



OECD Economics Department Working Papers No. 1150

Workplace Stress in the United States: Issues and Policies

Michael Darden

https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5jz0zb5t4532-en





Organisation de Coopération et de Développement Économiques Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

21-Jul-2014

English - Or. English

ECONOMICS DEPARTMENT

WORKPLACE STRESS IN THE UNITED STATES: ISSUES AND POLICIES ECONOMICS DEPARTMENT WORKING PAPER No. 1150

By Michael Darden

OECD Working Papers should not be reported as representing the official views of the OECD or of its member countries. The opinions expressed and arguments employed are those of the author(s).

Authorised for publication by Robert Ford, Deputy Director, Country Studies Branch, Economics Department.

All Economics Department Working Papers are available through OECD's Internet website at www.oecd.org/eco/Workingpapers

JT03360599

Complete document available on OLIS in its original format

This document and any map included herein are without prejudice to the status of or sovereignty over any territory, to the delimitation of international frontiers and boundaries and to the name of any territory, city or area.

OECD Working Papers should not be reported as representing the official views of the OECD or of its member countries. The opinions expressed and arguments employed are those of the author(s).

Working Papers describe preliminary results or research in progress by the author(s) and are published to stimulate discussion on a broad range of issues on which the OECD works.

Comments on Working Papers are welcomed, and may be sent to the Economics Department, OECD, 2 rue André-Pascal, 75775 Paris Cedex 16, France, or by e-mail to eco.contact@oecd.org

This document and any map included herein are without prejudice to the status of or sovereignty over any territory, to the delimitation of international frontiers and boundaries and to the name of any territory, city or area.

© OECD (2014)

You can copy, download or print OECD content for your own use, and you can include excerpts from OECD publications, databases and multimedia products in your own documents, presentations, blogs, websites and teaching materials, provided that suitable acknowledgment of OECD as source and copyright owner is given. All requests for commercial use and translation rights should be submitted to **rights@oecd.org**

ABSTRACT/RESUMÉ

Workplace Stress in the United States: Issues and Policies

Despite relative affluence, workplace stress is a prominent feature of the US labour market. To the extent that job stress causes poor health outcomes – either directly through increased blood pressure, fatigue, muscle pain, etc. or indirectly through increased rates of cigarette smoking – policy to lessen job stress may be appropriate. Focusing predominantly on the United States, this report reviews the literature on a variety of economic concerns related to job stress and health. Areas in which economists may provide valuable insights regarding job stress include empirical selection concerns in identifying the effect of stress on health; measurement error with respect to stress; the existence and magnitude of compensating differentials for stress; and the unique "job lock" effect in the United States created by a system of employer-provided health insurance. This report concludes with a brief discussion of US policies related to job stress.

This Working Paper relates to the 2014 OECD Economic Survey of the United States (www.oecd.org/eco/surveys/economic-survey-united-states.htm).

JEL Classification codes: 11; J22.

Keywords: job stress, health, labour market policy

Stress au travail aux États-Unis : questions et actions

Malgré une relative prospérité, le stress au travail constitue une caractéristique importante du marché du travail aux États-Unis. Dans la mesure où il génère des problèmes de santé, soit directement par une hausse de la tension artérielle, de la fatigue, des douleurs musculaires, etc., soit indirectement par une augmentation de la consommation tabagique, il semble utile d'entreprendre des actions visant à atténuer le stress au travail. Ce rapport, qui porte essentiellement sur les États-Unis, passe en revue les articles publiés sur diverses problématiques économiques liées au stress au travail et à la santé. Parmi les domaines dans lesquels les économistes pourraient apporter un éclairage intéressant sur le stress au travail, on peut citer les problèmes de sélection empirique lors de la détermination de l'effet du stress sur la santé, les erreurs de mesure en rapport avec le stress, la présence et l'ampleur des différentiels compensatoires liés au stress, ainsi que l'effet – propre aux États-Unis – de « rétention de l'emploi » créé par un système d'assurance-maladie fournie par l'employeur. Le présent rapport se conclut par une brève analyse des mesures prises dans le pays pour lutter contre le stress au travail.

Ce document de travail est lié à *l'Étude économique 2014 des États-Unis* menée par l'OCDE (www.oecd.org/eco/surveys/united-states.htm).

Classification JEL: 11; J22.

Mots Clés : stress au travail, santé, politique marché du travail

TABLE OF CONTENTS

WORKPLACE STRESS IN THE UNITED STATES: ISSUES AND POLICIES	5
Introduction	5
Job Strain and Health	6
Labour Market Conditions and Health	7
Health Effects	8
Health Production	
The Labour Market Implications of Poor Health	
United States Policy	13
Final Remarks	14
BIBLIOGRAPHY	15

WORKPLACE STRESS IN THE UNITED STATES: ISSUES AND POLICIES

by Michael Darden¹

Introduction

Gross national income per capita in the United States was USD 52 547 in 2012.² The United States earns a perfect 10 out of 10 in the OECD "Better Life" index on the dimension of household income and financial wealth.³ And yet, at a time of relative affluence if not relative to the recent past, then especially relative to the rest of the world – a sizable fraction of Americans are stressed, anxious, and depressed in regards to the workplace. Indeed, a survey by the American Institute for Stress reports that 35% of workers said their jobs are harming their physical or emotional health.⁴ Furthermore, 80% of workers feel stress on the job; nearly half say they need help in learning how to manage stress; and 42% say their co-workers need such help.

Within the United States, the Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) operates the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) with the goal to "provide national and world leadership to prevent workplace illnesses and injuries." A 1999 NIOSH report identified several key stylized facts about stress in the US workforce. First, 40% of workers in 1999 reported their job as very or extremely stressful; 25% viewed their jobs as the number one stressor in their lives; 75% of employees believed that workers had more on-the-job stress than a generation ago; 29% of workers felt quite a bit or extremely stressed at work; and 26% of workers said they were "often or very often burned out or stressed by their work". Furthermore, the report suggested that job stress is more strongly associated with health complaints than financial or family problems.

More recently, the American Psychological Association polled 1 546 adults, aged 18 years or more who were currently employed as full-time, part-time, or self-employed workers in 2011. 36% of respondents said they "typically feel tense or stressed out during their workday" and 40% claimed that "low salary is significantly impacting their stress level at work". 20% of respondents reported that their average daily level of stress from work was an 8, 9, or 10 out of 10.

The United States is not the only country where work-related health issues have attracted rising attention. In many countries, changes in the labour market, such as just-in-time delivery, atypical employment contracts and lower job security, are sources of concerns for the health of workers. In addition, the demographic ageing of the labour force and the rising proportion of women may also have an impact. In Europe, 22% of workers report suffer from stress and fatigue due to their jobs, a share that has risen over the past decade (OECD, 2008).

That Americans are both relatively wealthy and stressed with respect to work is somewhat at odds with recent evidence on the relationship between income and life-satisfaction. Deaton (2008) reviews the literature on this relationship and analyses the results of a Gallup Organization World Poll. He reports that

^{1.} Department of Economics, Tulane University. Professor Darden thanks Patrick Lenain (OECD) for helpful comments.

^{2.} Source: OECD

^{3.} See OECD Better Life Index.

^{4.} See 2001 Attitudes in the American Workplace VII Report, the American Institute for Stress.

^{5.} CDC - NIOSH

^{6.} NIOSH (1999).

^{7.} American Psychological Association (2011).

"average life satisfaction is strongly related to per capita national income". Furthermore, Stevenson & Wolfers (2013) find a strong positive correlation between subjective well-being and national income. Those authors also find that estimating well-being as a function of the log of income provides a better model fit than a linear income specification. Comparisons among poor countries are found to exhibit a very similar well-being/income relationship to comparisons among only rich counties.

While the results of Stevenson & Wolfers (2013) are shown to be robust to different measures of life-satisfaction, Deaton (2008) concedes that life-satisfaction is a complex, multi-dimensional factor that is difficult to aggregate into a single index. If life-satisfaction is a function, in part, of workplace stress, then workplace stress may be increasing with overall life-satisfaction if other dimensions of life-satisfaction are also improving. To the extent that workplace stress causes poor health, increasing workplace stress may overtake other dimensions of life-satisfaction if it crosses some threshold.

This report focuses on job stress, health and policy. While the primary area of interest is the United States, I draw on international research when appropriate. The report proceeds as follows. First, I establish the definition of "job strain" theoretically, and I explore how scientists in medicine, epidemiology, and economics have characterised the effects of job strain on health. Measurement and data issues – especially with regard to the latent nature of stress – have provided challenges in establishing consistent estimates of the effect of job strain on health. Next, I examine how economists think about job stress and review the economic literature of job stress in the United States. I also review the literature on the complementarity between job stress and other forms of health investment (e.g., smoking). Next, I show that the literature has found that poor mental health has real implications for the labour market in the form of increased absenteeism and job loss and decreased productivity. Finally, I provide an overview of US policies regarding workplace safety and disability as they relate to job stress. The report concludes with stylized facts on the United States and discusses recent policy measures that may address job stress.

Job Strain and Health

From a theoretical sense, Karasek & Theorell (1990) build a psychological model of job strain as a function of "decision latitude" and "psychological demands" in the workplace. Decision latitude is itself a function of skill discretion and decision authority. That is, low decision latitude within a job may exist when the environment within which a worker operates is constrained such that the optimal course of action – from the perspective of the worker – cannot be taken. However, constraints do not in themselves cause job strain. Indeed, within the model of Karasek & Theorell (1990), job strain exists only when a constrained worker is also subject to strong psychological demands. Those authors use the example of an assembly line worker for whom nearly all action is constrained. With increased demands (e.g., higher output) come increased psychological strains. Occupations with low decision latitude and low psychological demands are deemed passive jobs, while high-decision latitude and high psychological demand jobs are deemed active. Karasek & Theorell (1990) use the example of a high school teacher as that of an active job and a waitress as a high-strain job.

How to empirically measure job strain has proven difficult, and different studies have relied on different measures and definitions. Indeed, the literature is difficult to aggregate because results are sensitive to the empirical definition of job strain. However, the prevailing measures of strain are self-reported mental outcomes. Consistent with Karasek & Theorell (1990), the American Psychological Association (American Psychological Association, 2011) directly asked participants of a US job strain survey the extent to which they were "satisfied with the amount of *control* and *involvement*" in their jobs. 62% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that they were satisfied. While 10% of respondents claimed that personal responsibilities interfered with job duties, 25% claimed the opposite – that the demands of their job interfered with their home/family responsibilities.

Both decision latitude and psychological demand are ultimately latent variables for which proxy variables (e.g., self-reported categorical stress variables) may be absent in large, representative datasets. Indeed, most studies rely on self-reported measures of job strain that may or may not be consistent with medical and psychological definitions of stress. For example, French & Dunlap (1998), in a study on compensating wage differentials and job stress, define job stress as a binary indicator from a self-reported question on whether an individual's job is mentally stressful. If an individual claimed that a job is mentally stressful, then that individual was treated as mentally stressed. Kivimaki *et al.* (2012) measure job strain with a series of questions about the psychosocial aspects of their job. These ask specifically about job-demand items (e.g., intensity of work, etc.) and job control-items (e.g., decision freedom). They construct an index of these questions, and they define high-job demand as above the median job strain score. Low control was defined as being below median levels of control. However, the empirical definition of job strain is disputed in the literature. Indeed, Landsbergis & Schnall (2013) are critical of Kivimaki *et al.* (2012) – who find that workplace stress may be associated with increased cardiovascular disease risk – because their analysis does not control for work hours, poor social support and job security as empirical measures of job strain.

Promising recent work has used latent factor models to define stress and health as they influence a variety of outcomes. For example, Azagba & Sharaf (2011) empirically define a weighted average of several questions that relate to psychological demand and worker control. Those authors then break the resulting index into tertiles and assign low, medium or high job strain to an individual observation. Fletcher *et al.* (2011) merge Panel Study of Income Dynamics (PSID) data to Dictionary of Occupational Titles (DOT) data – which categorize the level of physical, mental, and emotional strain of a job – to model self-reported health status a function of job characteristics. Those authors use Principal Component Analysis (PCA) to construct an index of the environmental strain of a job. Those authors find evidence that especially "bad job characteristics", as measured by the DOT, predict poor health outcomes.

Labour Market Conditions and Health

Health economists have devoted much effort to the causal relationship between macroeconomic conditions and health. A series of papers by Christopher Ruhm have investigated this relationship in the United States. Ruhm (2000) lists four mechanisms by which health and macroeconomic conditions may be correlated: *1)* changes in opportunity cost of time; *2)* health as an input into the production of goods and services; *3)* risky activities as normal goods; and *4)* in(out)migration due to good(bad) economic times may cause an observed selection effect. Ruhm (2000) shows a strong negative relationship between macroeconomic conditions and health. Using US data from the Behavioural Risk Factor Surveillance System, he finds that a one percentage point increase in the state unemployment rate is associated with 0.5% increase in total mortality. An additional possible mechanism for this finding is that job separation (or the potential for job separation) increases stress, which leads to cardiovascular disease and mortality.

In a similar study, Morefield *et al.* (2011) analyse longitudinal data on occupational status and health transitions from the US representative Panel Study of Income Dynamics. The authors find evidence that tenure in blue-collar employment causes workers to "wear-out" – defined as lowered subjective health assessment – more quickly relative to white-collar workers. This result is shown to be robust to corrections for education and other demographic characteristics. Letvak *et al.* (2012) study the mental health of 1 171 registered nurses (RN) in the United States. Relative to a national rate of depression of 9%, RNs in the sample of Letvak *et al.* (2012) were 100% more likely to exhibit signs of depression. Furthermore,

^{8.} PCA is a data reduction technique in which a researcher weighs a variety of correlated measurements to construct an index. The weights are determined by the eigenvector values of an eigenvector decomposition of the variance/covariance matrix. See Vyas & Kumaranayake (2006) for a detailed review with respect to the construct of socio-economic statutes indexes.

depressed nurses were more likely to negatively influence the productivity of other nurses, and depression was correlated with higher BMI and worse job-satisfaction. Importantly, the authors find that depression was less likely to be reported and treated than physical ailments.

The negative effect of unemployment on health is well documented. Recent evidence from Sullivan & Wacher (2009b) shows that for older male workers in the United States with a large amount of tenure in an occupation, mortality rates jump in the year after job displacement and mortality rates remain higher even 20 years post displacement. They attribute their findings to a mechanism in which stress persists and causes mortality rates to rise. Furthermore, job loss may result in lower lifetime earnings, which may by itself cause chronic stress, and chronic stress may imply higher rates of mortality.

The threat of unemployment, or more generally job security, however, may also be an underlying cause of stress-related health outcomes. For example, Sullivan & Wacher (2009a) suggests that variability in earnings – through job separation – is associated with increased mortality rates for male workers in Pennsylvania. Furthermore, Virtanen *et al.* (2011) find that perceived job insecurity may lead to adverse health effects, and Mattiasson *et al.* (1990) find that the threat of unemployment increases cholesterol levels.

Similarly, the perceptions and outlook of American workers may also be affected by job stress. A survey from the Attitudes in the American Workplace found that 73% of American workers would not want their boss's job. Furthermore, Johnston & Lee (2013) study changes in workers' perceptions of their jobs before and several years after a promotion. Interestingly, and conversely to the work of Karasek & Theorell (1990), they report both more control and decision-making freedom and yet also more stress and long hours. Years after a promotion, any positive effects of higher income are found to have been nullified and stress remains high. However, they find no long-term health effects of promotion with the exception of reduced mental health.

Labour economists have also studied a uniquely American form of job stress: job lock – a situation in which a worker stays in a job despite the desire to seek other employment – caused by employer-provided health insurance. Especially in cases in which a worker is poorly matched to a job or is unprepared for or unaware of the stress that comes with a job, job lock may imply chronic stress situations that lead to poor health outcomes. Indeed, Madrian (1994), the seminal paper in the job lock literature, suggests that employer-provided health insurance creates a job-lock effect in which voluntary turnover rates are 25% lower for those with health insurance. Furthermore, if health insurance improves health but creates additional stress from those locked a job, and stress causes poor health outcomes, then standard statistical models will understate the importance of health insurance on health. The extent to which the Affordable Care Act (ACA) may lessen an employer provided health-insurance job lock effect is discussed below.

Health Effects

Physiologically, stress is a natural phenomenon that everyone experiences. Stress causes the adrenal glands to release hormones that elevate heart rate and blood pressure. Stress can have positive implications in the sense that these hormones boost energy in situations characterized by conflict. However, when stress becomes chronic – constant stress over a long period of time in which hormone levels stay elevated – the health consequences can be severe. According to NIOSH (1999), the early warning signs of job stress

^{9.} However, generally the results in the job displacement and health literature depend critically on the measure of health under study. For example, Browning *et al.* (2006) find no effect of job displacement on hospital admissions for conditions related to chronic stress in Denmark.

^{10.} That job stress does not manifest itself into major health conditions until after many years' presents a challenge to empirically identifying and quantifying the effects of stress. For example, the Framing- ham Heart Study is

related health implications are headache, sleep disturbances, difficulty concentrating, short temper, and upset stomach. In the long run, stress is associated with cardiovascular disease, musculoskeletal disorders, psychological disorders, workplace injury, and suicide.¹¹

The medical literature has emphasized the relationship between stress and cardiovascular ailments. The mechanism through which job stress affects cardiovascular health is blood pressure. Vrijkotte *et al.* (2000) define job stress, in part, as a high imbalance between workplace effort and reward in a sample of 109 white-collar workers in the Netherlands. The authors find that a high imbalance is associated with higher systolic blood pressure whether at work or not and a higher heart rate at work. See Vrijkotte *et al.* (2000) for a review of the literature on work stress and blood pressure.

The long-term effects of job stress on cardiovascular disease, broadly defined, are difficult to model because ideal data would include longitudinal information of individuals over a broad set of social, economic, and demographic characteristics. Furthermore, stress is a difficult measure with regard to the workplace. Everal observational cohort studies have tried to quantify job stress with cardiovascular disease. Kivimaki *et al* (2002) administered a work stress questionnaire to a small sample of Finnish factory workers with no baseline cardiovascular disease. The authors use the psychosocial demand/job control framework of Karasek &Theorell (1990) to construct a variety of survey questions. Job strain is measured by summing the responses (on a 1 to 5 scale) and splitting the sample into tertiles based upon the sum of the question scores. The authors follow up with sample subjects on cardiovascular conditions, with a mean follow up time of 25.6 years. Age and gender adjusted results suggest that high job strain (the highest tertile) was associated with a 2.2-fold increase in cardiovascular mortality.

In a more general review of several studies, Kivimaki *et al.* (2012) review 13 European cohort studies and find evidence of an association between job strain and cardiovascular disease. Those authors also suggest that a main mechanism linking job stress and cardiovascular disease may be an observed correlation between job stress and cigarette smoking. Studying the population of workers between ages 40 and 50 in Denmark, Black *et al.* (2012) examine how job displacement affects cardiovascular health. Those authors find that cardiovascular disease is worse for those displaced, and this finding can largely be attributed to a increase in smoking. Interestingly, the cardiovascular health of the spouses of displaced workers is unaffected.

There is little evidence of a relationship between job stress and cancer. Heikkila *et al.* (2013), who conduct a meta-analysis of the effects of work stress on the risk of cancer in European countries, found no evidence across 12 European cohort studies of any cancer risk from job strain. However, there is evidence that job stress may play a role in suicides. Mohseni-Cheraghlou (2013) examines panel data on United States workers from 1979 to 2004 and finds that suicide may be linked with labour-market factors. Indeed, states with high unemployment rates saw greater counts and percentages of suicides.

To summarize the literature on the effects of job stress on health, chronic stress may lead to severe cardiovascular consequences; however, chronic stress is difficult to measure, and later life health outcomes are difficult to attribute to working age conditions.

one of the few longitudinal health studies over many decades, but that survey does not contain any consistently measured labour market information.

- 11. See Steptoe & Kivimaki (2012) for a thorough review of the medical science behind stress and cardiovascular disease
- 12. See discussion above.
- 13. See discussion on secondary factors below.

Health Production

Economists have much to contribute to the literature on job stress and health. The seminal work of Grossman (1972) defines how economists generally think about health. The key insight of Grossman (1972) is that health is a derived demand – that is, an individual demands health such that she may consume other goods. Therefore, in the Grossman framework, health is produced by optimally selecting lifestyle behaviours (e.g., exercise, alcohol, etc.) and human capital investments (e.g., school decisions). Income and the price of consumption goods and medical services affect the optimal investment in health through the budget constraint. The model predicts that higher income should be associated with improved health – an individual has more money to invest in health. However, if job stress causes poor cardiovascular health, the model of Grossman (1972) makes two predictions. First, the model suggests in the long-run that individuals, who are particularly prone to job stress and the associated health implications, will select out of high stress occupations. Second, if job stress is reducing the current health of an individual, the model predicts that an individual may revaluate her investment in health on other dimensions

The selection issue described above – that there exists heterogeneity in preferences for and tolerance of stress, and those better at coping/adapting to stress select into stressful jobs – implies that standard statistical techniques that relate job stress to health may not accurately capture the severity of the effect of job stress. In economics this is known as an identification problem – the effect of job stress on health is muddled by selection into jobs. Indeed, French & Dunlap (1998) emphasize that very little of the medical literature on stress and cardiovascular disease consider that stress is a negative job characteristic that may be priced out with higher wages. Consider two jobs that are differentiated only by the level of stress. An employer may offer a higher wage for the more stressful position, and the selection effect described earlier may generate a positive correlation between the types of people that can handle stress and wages.

French & Dunlap (1998) study 1 500 workers in the United States for evidence of compensating differentials. They find evidence that cohorts of workers under stress exhibit a wage premium of 3-10% relative to "non-stressed" cohorts. The authors note that if labour markets are efficient – no job search frictions or information asymmetries – then policy regarding job stress is unnecessary because compensating differentials have priced out the unpleasantness of stressful occupations. The authors are quick to note however that the existence of compensating differentials does not imply that markets are efficient.¹⁴

Important recent work by Fletcher *et al.* (2011) ask whether cumulative job characteristics - the accumulation of particularly negative and stress-related job characteristics over a five year period of time – affect health. The cumulative nature of job characteristics is important because the medical literature has emphasized that chronic stress over time may lead to poor health outcomes. Fletcher *et al.* (2011) use principal component analysis to reduce the dimension of DOT data into an index of the accumulated physical and environmental work conditions. They estimate ordered probit models of self-reported health as a function of accumulated job characteristics and controls. Importantly, they control for the self-selection of relatively healthy individuals into more strenuous/demanding/control occupations. They show that when they do not control for earnings – and thus do not allow for compensating differentials – they may understate the effects of poor working conditions on health.

Fletcher et al. (2011) find that long-term exposure to physically and environmentally strenuous work conditions worsened self-reported health for US workers. Importantly, those authors find that the effects of

^{14.} Ose (2005) formulate a theoretical model that ties health to working conditions and yields a testable hypothesis of compensating wage differentials.

^{15.} Without PCA, the authors also construct cumulative work hours and labour income.

job stress on self-reported health may vary by education, gender and ethnicity. For men, the negative effect of cumulative physical demands at work is driven largely by non-whites. Furthermore, much of the effect of cumulative environmental conditions is due to younger workers, whereas the negative effects of physical conditions are driven by older workers. In general, the magnitudes of the negative effects are larger for women, but female negative effects are driven by whites. The general finding that accumulated job stressors are correlated with worse self-reported health is consistent with the medical notion that acute, temporary stress is not a medical problem, but chronic stress results in the production of cortisol hormones that imply health effects later in life.

Following from Grossman (1972), economists should contribute to the literature on job stress by studying the substitutability and complementarity between stressful work characteristics and other forms of health investment. For example, if cigarette smoking relieves stress, job stress may cause an increase in smoking, and the observed correlation between chronic job stress and poor health may be in part due to smoking. Indeed, Kivimaki *et al.* (2012) and Black *et al.* (2012) independently find that job strain is less important in predicting coronary heart disease than other risk factors such as smoking.

How individuals cope with stress is important. Focusing on older workers in the Health and Retirement study, Ayyagari & Sindelar (2010) find that job stress reduces the probability of quitting cigarette smoking and increases the quantity of cigarettes smoked in the United States. Importantly, their panel data approach allows for fixed effects estimation at both the individual and time levels that removes time invariant individual unobserved heterogeneity and the secular trend in cigarette smoking. Examining the Canadian National Population Survey, Azagba & Sharaf (2011) show that job strain increases drinking among those already classified as heavy drinkers. Job strain also is shown to increase smoking for light smokers. However, neither rates of smoking nor drinking are shown to increase on the extensive margin, a key distinction when considering policy. For example, we would expect an increase in smoking as a result of job stress to also be accompanied by an increase in cancer incidence, though Heikkila *et al.* (2013) find no effect of work stress on cancer risk. The work of Azagba & Sharaf (2011) and Heikkila *et al.* (2013) can be reconciled by noting that the main driver for lung cancer risk is the extensive margin of cigarette smoking.

If alcohol is a normal good, then we would expect increases in income – through improved macroeconomic conditions – to be associated with an increase in alcohol demand and alcohol prices. Studying BRFSS data, Ruhm & Black (2002) show that, on the intensive margin, there is a positive relationship between macroeconomic indicators and alcohol consumption. However, similar to Azagba & Sharaf (2011) finding that smoking increases on the intensive margin for stressed workers, Ruhm & Black (2002) find that wealth does not induce non-drinkers to start. Importantly, the authors also find that the relationship is symmetric – bad economic times decrease overall alcohol consumption because heavy drinkers drink less. Furthermore, those authors show that their results hold when controlling for cognitive ability, risk preferences and time discounting.

The Labour Market Implications of Poor Health

Generally, NIOSH (1999) suggest that stress is correlated with absenteeism, tardiness, and intentions to quit. Research on 15 OECD countries has found that stress leads to increased rates of absenteeism and individuals' quitting behaviour. Indeed, Leontaridi & Ward (2002) find that individuals reporting at least some workplace-related stress are 10 - 14% more likely to hold intentions to quit or be absent from work. Those authors also show that the probability of absenteeism is increasing in the level of self-reported stress. Leontaridi &Ward (2002) show that work hours and physical demands, as well as being female, are correlated with higher levels of stress, and that stress is increasing in income and educational attainment.

According to economic theory, a worker's wage should reflect the value of her marginal product. That the marginal product of a worker should fall as health declines is common sense; thus, we should expect workplace stress to manifest itself in lower productivity and lower wages. A 2004 report from the Centers for Disease Prevention and Control reviews 52 published studies that examine the relationship between long working hours and "illnesses, injuries, health behaviours, and performance". According to the review, the majority of studies find that along a number of health dimensions, overtime work is detrimental. Of the 52 studies, lengthy work times were categorized as *1*) any time over 40 hours per week, *2*) specifically 10 and 12 hour-work shifts relative to 8-hour shifts, *3*) 12-hour shifts in particular, and *4*) very long shifts in which an individual is on call for 24, 32, or 48 hours. Across a variety of countries, category 1 was generally associated with higher risk for cardiovascular disease, but studies that focused on hypertension were inconclusive. The report finds that 8 of 12 studies find increased morbidity and mortality risks associated with broad overtime work, but also a trend towards increased cigarette and alcohol consumption, as well as worse test performance. The report also finds report mixed results across a variety of outcomes for extended work as defined in categories 2 and 3.

Especially of note in the CDC report is the general association in most studies of worse subjective health, productivity and overtime hours. Rocheteau (2002) provides a conceptual framework within which one can analyse worker productivity under a policy designed to, in part, relieve workplace stress: mandated work time limits. Rocheteau (2002) states that, "our model predicts that reducing the number of working hours in high unemployment countries can reduce the unemployment rate, whereas the same policy in low unemployment countries has negative effect on the employment level". The key mechanism that drives their results is the well-known notion of efficiency wages – paying workers more than the value of their marginal product to induce effort, and thus prevent moral hazard induced shirking, and to generate loyalty. In the model of Rocheteau (2002), workers shirk their work responsibility if the rent received from working — the value of being employed less that of being unemployed — exceeds a threshold that is a function of the disutility of work and the probability of being dismissed when shirking. Clearly, as unemployment benefits rise, or as marginal tax rates rise, the incentive to shirk increases. Crucially, the disutility of work is assumed to be increasing, at an increasing rate, in the number of hours of work. In addition to ignoring feedback loops, the model of Rocheteau (2002) omits any mention of increases in productivity induced by health benefits and stress relief from reduced hours or efficiency wages.

Another important implication of growing workplace stress levels is the potential increase in mental health disability applications. Indeed, the Social Security Disability Insurance (SSDI) and Supplemental Security Income (SSI) programmes have grown considerably since the 1984 decision to switch from a medical to a functional definition of disability. Autor & Duggan (2003) argue that the odd co-movement of rising disability growth and improving aggregate health in the United States can be partly explained by changes in screening within the SSDI program and an increase in the rate at which wages are replaced in the SSDI programme. Furthermore, not surprisingly, Maestas *et al.* (2013) show that the extent to which disability insurance negatively impacts work participation depends on the severity of the disability, and Kostol & Mogstad (2014) show that the disabled who receive disability insurance and do not work, but who have some capacity for work, may respond to financial work incentives designed to promote a return to work. Autor & Duggan (2007) show that expansion of Veterans' Affairs Disability Compensation programme reduced the labour-force participation rate of Vietnam Veterans. Autor & Duggan (2006) offer an excellent summary of the growth in the SSDI and SSI programs, as well as the toll of these programmes on the long-run solvency of the Social Security program in the United States.

^{16.} See CDC (2004).

United States Policy

In the United States, research on the psychological strain in the workplace – especially over time – has lagged behind Western European countries. With respect to policy, it is important to differentiate between policy at the organizational (employer) and individual (employee) level. The emphasis of US research has been on individual characteristics that lead to stress-related illness. This focus has implied a number of individual level worker safety policies. The Worker Protection Act of 1970 created two Federal agencies tasked with protecting worker safety and health. OSHA, the Occupational Safety and health Administration, is tasked with enforcing Federal workplace safety regulations. The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) is required by Congress to conduct research on workplace safety issues. OSHA recognizes job stress in particular industries, such as hospital workers, but typically outsources guidance with respect to job stress issues to NIOSH. In fact, OSHA links to other countries reports on the health hazards of job stress.¹⁷

In the 1980s, the National Institutes for Health (NIH) drastically cut funding for the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH), and eliminated research divisions working on mental health in the workplace (Karasek & Theorell, 1990). In 1996, NIOSH mental health research was revived through the broader National Occupational Research Agenda. That work focused on the effect of the organisation of the workplace and psychosocial factors on job stress. NIOSH has also investigated policies designed to improve safety within the workplace. In the last decade, NIOSH has been active in funding research on the effects of work shift duration on health. The product of their funded research has been guidance and approved methods for managing and avoiding fatigue.

From a policy perspective, the overarching Fair Labour Standards Act, enforced by the Department of Labour, establishes certain standards (e.g., minimum hourly wages, overtime compensation after 40 hours of work in one week, etc.), but the Act does not focus specifically on alleviating the strains of work. Indeed, after a minimum set of standards, the Act regulates certain employee benefits such as work breaks only if those benefits are offered in the first place. For example, no general laws on lunch breaks/coffee breaks/etc exist, but FLSA requires that if granted, these breaks count as working time. The Act does not place any restrictions on the following: vacation time; holiday, severance, or sick pay; rest periods; premium pay for weekend or holiday work; pay raises or fringe benefits; discharge notices; or providing pay stubs. Furthermore, the FLSA does not limit the number of hours in a day, or days in a week, an employee may be required or scheduled to work, including overtime hours, if the employee is at least 16 years old. Other policies (minimum wages, rest periods, etc.) vary across states.

The Act does stipulate that employees must receive at least minimum wage and may not be employed for more than 40 hours per week without receiving at least one and one-half times their regular rates of pay for the overtime hours. However, several controversial provisions exempt employers from paying overtime wages in certain circumstances. For example, to avoid paying overtime wages, an employer may designate a worker as an administrator if the employee is compensated on a salary basis; earns more than USD 455 per week; the employee's primary tasks are in office work; and the employee's "primary duty includes the exercise of discretion and independent judgment with respect to matters of significance". The Act also places definitions on work itself. For example, the Act differentiates between a worker engaged to wait for work (counted as work time) versus waiting to engage in work (not work time).

^{17.} See OSHA for an example of OSHA information regarding stress in hospital workers.

^{18.} See http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/topics/stress/

^{19.} See http://blogs.cdc.gov/niosh-science-blog/2012/03/08/sleep-and-work/

^{20.} For the basic rules of FLSA, see http://www.dol.gov/whd/regs/compliance/whdfs22.htm

²¹ http://www.dol.gov/elaws/esa/flsa/screen6.asp

^{22.} See http://www.dol.gov/whd/overtime/fs17a overview.htm for a complete list of exemptions.

Furthermore, the Act defines when sleep on the job is considered working time, but it places no restrictions on weekly work hours for the general labour force.²³

As noted above, if a worker is mismatched in her job, but remains because of employer provided health insurance, this tension may generate job stress. Furthermore, if a worker worries about losing her job because of unaffordable health insurance on the individual market, then researchers may observe a correlation between stress and local labour market conditions. Expanding health insurance – either through the public provision of insurance or otherwise – coverage may lessen job strain through a number of mechanisms described above. Indeed, the Affordable Care Act (ACA), may dramatically improve the mental health if the individual market exchanges are successful in providing affordable health insurance policies.

While it is still too early to evaluate the ACA, important work on Medicaid expansion in currently underway in Oregon. The Oregon Health Study Group (see Finkelstein et al. (2012) and Finkelstein et al. (2013)), randomly offered the opportunity to enrol in Medicaid – the US health insurance program for the poor – to a group of low-income adults. The sampled population is those individuals at or below the 100% poverty threshold (USD 11 720/year in 2012 for a single adult), and the authors are quick to point out that the ACA will require all states to offer Medicaid eligibility to individuals at 133% of the poverty level. Those randomly selected for Medicaid showed higher health-care utilisation and lower out-of-pocket medical expenditures and debt. Two years after randomization, Finkelstein et al. (2013) find no effect of Medicaid expansion on blood pressure or cholesterol levels and a positive effect on the probability of a diabetes diagnosis. Importantly however, the researchers also find that Medicaid coverage - relative to being uninsured - is associated with 32% increase in self-reported overall happiness (Finkelstein et al., 2012) and a decrease in the probability of a positive depression screening of 9.15 percentage points (Finkelstein et al., 2013). Lower rates of depression are not surprising given that Finkelstein et al. (2013) also find that receipt of coverage "nearly eliminated catastrophic out-of-pocket medical expenditures". Furthermore, in addition to potentially alleviating stress related to medical expenditures, the ACA represents a large expansion in mental health services as all health plans on the private exchanges are required to cover mental health and substance use disorder care.²⁴

Final Remarks

The medical literature shows that chronic stress, broadly defined, causes poor health outcomes. Survey evidence from the United States suggests that the workplace is the number one cause of stress. In addition to poor health outcomes directly from stress and indirectly from coping mechanisms such as cigarette smoking, workplace stress may cause lower worker productivity and increased absenteeism. Therefore, job stress is a growing concern for policy makers. However, with policy as with empirical research, how stress is defined is of vital importance. Small changes in screening definitions may lead to large changes in disability enrolments just as small changes in self-reported questionnaires may lead to large changes in empirical results. Indeed, policies not directly aimed at workplace stress reduction such as the Affordable Care Act may be the most effective at reducing job stress in the United States.

^{23.} Regulations for rest time for specific occupations (e.g., airline pilot) are created and enforced by individual Federal agencies (e.g., Federal Aviation Administration.

^{24.} See http://www.mentalhealth.gov/get-help/health-insurance/.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- American Psychological Association (2011), "Stress in the Workplace", *Technical Report*, American Psychological Association.
- Autor, D. and M. Duggan (2003), "The Rise in the Disability Rolls and the Decline in Unemployment", *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 118(1): 157–206.
- Autor, D. and M. Duggan (2006), "The Growth in Social Security Disability Rolls: A Fiscal Crisis Unfolding", *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 20(3): 71–96.
- Autor, D. and M. Duggan (2007), "Distinguishing Income from Substitution Effects in Disability Insurance", *American Economic Review Papers and Proceedings*, 96(2): 119–124.
- Ayyagari, P. and J. Sindelar (2010), "The Impact of Job Stress on Smoking and Quitting: Evidence from the HRS", *The B.E. Journal of Economic Analysis & Policy*, 10.
- Azagba, S. and M. Sharaf (2011), "The Effect of Job Stress on Smoking and Alcohol Consumption", *Health Economics Review*, 1: 1–15.
- Black, S., P. Devereux, and K. Salvanes (2012), "Losing Heart? The Effect of Job Displacement on Health", *NBER Working Paper*.
- Browning, M., A. M. Dano, and E. Heinesen (2006), "Job Displacement and Stress-related Health Outcomes", *Health Economics*, 15: 1061–1075.
- CDC, (2004), Overtime and Extended Work Shifts: "Recent Findings on Illnesses, Injuries, and Health Behaviors", United States Department of Health and Human Services, Center for Disease Control and Prevention, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, DHHS (NIOSH) *Technical Report*, No. 143.
- Deaton, A. (2008), "Income, Health, and Well-Being around the World. Evidence from the Gallup World Poll", *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 22(2): 53–72.
- Finkelstein, A., S. Taubman, B. Wright, M. Bernstein, J. Gruber, J. P. Newhouse, H. Allen, and K. Baicker (2012), "The Oregon Health Insurance Experiment: Evidence from the First Year", *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 127(3): 1057–1106.
- Finkelstein, A., S. Taubman, B. Wright, M. Bernstein, J. Gruber, J. P. Newhouse, H. Allen, and K. Baicker (2013), "The Oregon Experiment Effects of Medicaid on Clinical Outcomes". *New England Journal of Medicine*, 368(18): 1713–1722.
- Fletcher, J., J. L. Sindelar, and S. Yamaguchi (2011), "Cumulative Effects of Job Characteristics on Health", *Health Economics*, 20: 553–570.

- French, M. and L. Dunlap (1998), "Compensating Wage Differentials for Job Stress", *Applied Economics*, 30: 1067–1075.
- Grossman, M. (1972), On the Concept of "Health Capital and the Demand for Health", *Journal of Political Economy*, 80(2): 223–255.
- Heikkila, K. *et. al.* (2013), "Work Stress and Risk of Cancer: Meta-analysis of 5 700 Incident Cancer Events in 116 000 European Men and Women", *British Medical Journal*, 346: 880–886.
- Johnston, D. and W. Lee (2013), "Extra Status and Extra Stress: Are Promotions Good For Us?", *ILRReview*, 66(1): 33–54.
- Karasek, R. and T. Theorell (1990), *Healthy Work: Stress, Productivity, and the Reconstruction of Working Life*. Basic Books.
- Kivimaki, M. et al. (2002), "Work Stress and Risk of Cardiovascular Mortality: Prospective Cohort Study of Industrial Employees", *British Medical Journal*, 325.
- Kivimaki, M. *et al.* (2012), "Job Strain as a Risk Factor for Coronary Heart Disease: a Collaborative Meta-analysis of Individual Participant Data", *Lancet*, 380: 1491–1497.
- Kostol, A. and M. Mogstad (2014), "How Financial Incentives Induce Disability Insurance Recipients to Return to Work", *American Economic Review*, 104(2): 624–655.
- Landsbergis, P. and P. Schnall (2013), "Job Strain and Coronary Heart Disease", Lancet, 381: 9–15.
- Leontaridi, R. and M. Ward (2002), "Work-Related Stress, Quitting Intentions, and Absenteeism", *IZA Discussion Paper*.
- Letvak, S., C. Ruhm, and T. McCoy (2012), "Depression in Hospital- Employed Nurses", *Clinical Nurse Specialist*, 26(3): 177–182.
- Madrian, B. (1994), "Employer-Based Health Insurance and Job Mobility: Is there evidence of Job-Lock?", *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 109(1): 27–54.
- Maestas, N., K. Mullen and A. Strand (2013), "Do Disability Insurance Receipt Discourage Work? Using Examiner Assignment to Estimate the Causal Effects of SSDI Receipt", *American Economic Review*, 103(5): 1797–1829.
- Mattiasson, I., F. Lindgarde, J. Nilsson, and T. Tores (1990), "Threat of Unemployment and Cardiovascular Risk Factors: Longitudinal Study of Quality of Sleep and Serum Cholesterol Concentrations in Men Threatened with Redundancy", *British Medical Journal*, 301: 461–466.
- Mohseni-Cheraghlou (2013), "Labour Markets and Mental Wellbeing: Labor Market Conditions and Suicides in the United States (1979-2004)", *Journal of Socio-Economics*, 45: 175–186.
- Morefield, G., D. Ribar, and C. Ruhm (2011), "Occupational Status and Health Transitions", *NBER Working Paper*.
- NIOSH (1999), "Stress At Work", United States Department of Health and Human Services, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, DHHS (NIOSH), *Technical report*, No. 99–101.

- OECD (2008), "Are All Jobs Good for Your Health? The Impact of Work Status and Working Conditions on Mental Health", *OECD Employment Outlook*, OECD Publishing.
- OECD (2012), "Sick on the Job? Myths and Realities about Mental Health and Work", *Technical Report*, OECD Publishing.
- Ose, S. (2005), "Working Conditions, Compensation and Absenteeism", *Journal of Health Economics*, 24: 161–188.
- Rocheteau, G. (2002), "Working Time Regulation in a Search Economy with Worker Moral Hazard", *Journal of Public Economics*, 84: 387–425.
- Ruhm, C. (2000), "Are Recessions Good for your Health?", *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 115(2): 617–650.
- Ruhm, C. and W. Black, (2002), "Does Drinking Really Decrease in Bad Times?", *Journal of Health Economics*, 21: 659–678.
- Steptoe, A. and M. Kivimaki (2012), "Stress and Cardiovascular Disease", Nature, 9.
- Stevenson, B. and J. Wolfers (2013), "Subjective Well-Being and Income: Is There Any Evidence of Satiation?", *American Economic Review: Papers and Proceedings*, 103(3): 880–886.
- Sullivan, D. and T. Wacher (2009a), "Average Earnings and Long-Term Mortality: Evidence from Administrative Data", *American Economic Review: Papers and Proceedings*, 99(2): 133–138.
- Sullivan, D. and T. Wacher (2009b), "Job Displacement and Mortality: An Analysis Using Administrative Data", *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 124(1): 1265–1306.
- Virtanen, P., U. Janlert, and A. Hammarstrom (2011), "Exposure to Temporary Employment and Job Insecurity: a Longitudinal Study of the Health Effects", *Occupational Environmental Medicine*, 68: 570–574.
- Vrijkotte, T., L. Van Doornen, and E. de Geus (2000), "Effects of Work Stress on Ambulatory Blood Pressure, Heart Rate, and Heart Rate Variability", *Hypertension*, 35: 880–886.
- Vyas, S. and L. Kumaranayake (2006), *Constructing Socio-Economic Status Indices: How to Use Principal Component Analysis*, Oxford University Press in association with the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine.

WORKING PAPERS

The full series of Economics Department Working Papers can be consulted at www.oecd.org/eco/workingpapers

- 1149. *Taxing the rent of non-renewable resource sectors: a theoretical note* (July 2014) by Julien Daubanes and Saraly Andrade de Sá
- 1148. *Health, work and working conditions: a review of the European economic literature* (July 2014) by Thomas Barnay
- Making the best of new energy resources in the United States (July 2014) by Douglas Sutherland
- 1146. *Improving well-being in the United States* (July 2014) by Aida Caldera Sánchez, Patrick Lenain and Sarah Fléche
- 1145. Deconstructing Canada's housing markets: finance, affordability and urban sprawl
 (July 2014) by Calista Cheung
 Restructurer les marchés canadiens du logement : financements, accessibilité financière et étalement urbain
 (Juillet 2014) par Calista Cheung
- 1144. Women's role in the Swiss economy
 (July 2014) by Richard Dutu
 Le rôle des femmes dans l'économie suisse
 (Juillet 2014) par Richard Dutu
- 1143. Overcoming skills shortages in Canada (July 2014) by David Carey Combler les pénuries de compétences au Canada (Juillet 2014) par David Carey
- 1142. *Trade patterns in the 2060 world economy* (July 2014) by Jean Chateau, Lionel Fontagné, Jean Fouré, Åsa Johansson and Eduardo Olaberria
- 1141. *The Demand for Skills 1995-2008: A global chain perspective* (July 2014) by Bart Los, Marcel P. Timmer and Gaaitzen J. De Vries
- 1140. International migration: The relationship with economic and policy factors in the home and destination country
 (July 2014) by Ben Westmore
- 1139. Gross earning inequalities in OECD countries and major non-member economies: determinants and future scenarios
 (July 2014) by Henrik Braconier and Jenifer Valenzuela Ruiz
- 1136. Long-term patterns of trade and specialisation (July 2014) by Asa Johansson and Eduardo Olaberria

1135.	Consequences of climate change damages for economic growth – a dynamic quantitativ
	assessment
	(July 2014) by Rob Dellink, Elisa Lanzi, Jean Chateau, Francesco Bosello, Ramiro Parrado an
	Kelly de Bruin

- 1134. Comparing the robustness of PAYG pension schemes (July 2014) by Falilou Fall
- 1133. Overcoming vulnerabilities of pension systems (July 2014) by Falilou Fall and Debbie Bloch
- 1132. Overcoming vulnerabilities of health care systems (July 2014) by Mauro Pisu
- 1131. Overcoming vulnerability of unemployment insurance schemes (July 2014) by Jon Pareliussen
- 1130. *Vulnerability of social institutions: Lessons from the recent crisis and historical episodes* (July 2014) by Falilou Fall, Mauro Pisu, Jon Pareliussen and Debbie Bloch
- 1129. An update of the OECD international trade equations (June 2014) by Myriam Morin and Cyrille Schwellnus
- 1128. What explains the volume and composition of trade? Industrial evidence from a panel of countries

 (June 2014) by Asa Johansson, Przemyslaw Kowalski, Eduardo Olaberria and Dario Pellegrino
- 1127. Do resources flow to patenting firms: cross-country evidence from firm level data (June 2014) by Dan Andrews, Chiara Criscuolo and Carlo Menon
- 1126. *Macroprudential policy tools in Norway: Strengthening financial system resilience* (June 2014) by Yosuke Jin, Patrick Lenain and Paul O'Brien
- 1125. Strengthening competition in Poland (June 2014) by Balász Égert and Antoine Goujard
- 1124. *Making the labour market work better in Poland* (June 2014) by Hervé Boulhol
- 1123. Enhancing competition and the business environment in Hungary (June 2014) by Alvaro Pina
- 1122. *Tackling labour mismatches and promoting mobility in Hungary* (June 2014) by Stéphane Sorbe
- 1121. Local public finances and municipal reform in Finland (June 2014) by Christophe André and Clara Garcia
- 1120. The economic consequences of ageing: the case of Finland (June 2014) by Christine de la Maisonneuve, Christophe André, Clara Garcia and Vincent Koen